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The IOC is a non-profit association 
committed to leading the Olympic 
Movement and contributing to building  
a better world through sport. Its 
operations are based on four-year 
periods called Olympiads, during  
which an Olympic Summer Games,  
an Olympic Winter Games and a Youth 
Olympic Games are held. The most 
recent completed Olympiad covered  
the period 2013-2016. The Olympiad 
currently under review covers the  
period 2017-2020. 

To ensure the credibility of the Olympic 
Movement, its values and its mission,  
the IOC strives to demonstrate good 
governance in all its practices, including 
increasing the transparency of its 
financial operations. This is aligned  

with the recommendations of Olympic 
Agenda 2020. Therefore, although  
the IOC is under no legal obligation to 
apply International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), it strongly believes  
that to do so will help it to achieve more 
transparency, comparability and high 
quality in its financial statements.

90% of IOC revenue is redistributed

The IOC redistributes 90% of its revenue 
from an Olympiad to support the staging 
of the Olympic Games and promote  
the worldwide development of sport and 
the Olympic Movement. The IOC retains 
only 10% of Olympic revenue for IOC 
activities to develop sport and to cover 
the operational costs of governing the 
Olympic Movement.

IOC sources of revenue

The IOC is entirely privately funded.  

The IOC’s strong financial foundation is 
driven by its partnerships with sponsors 
and broadcasters, which provide 
sustainable revenue streams to ensure 
the independent financial stability of  
the Olympic Movement. The continued 
growth of these partnerships supports 
the IOC’s objectives of promoting  
the worldwide development of sport, 
supporting the staging of the Olympic 
Games and assisting in the global 
promotion of the Olympic Movement.

The IOC generates revenue through 
several programmes, including the  
sale of broadcasting rights, the 
worldwide TOP sponsorship  
programme and the IOC official  
supplier and licensing programme. 

In 2019, the IOC recognised  
USD 0.7 billion in total revenue,  
bringing the total revenue recognised in 
the current Olympiad to USD 3.6 billion.  
This represents the strength and value  
of our partnership programmes.

IOC Financial Statements 2019

90%
Distribution, Olympic 
Games, promotion of  

the Olympic Movement 

The figures in the financial statements and tables have been rounded; totals may therefore  
deviate from the sum of the individual items. The figures 0 and 0.0 are rounded values representing 
less than half of the unit used, yet more than zero (rounded zero). A dash (–) in place of a number 
stands for zero (absolute zero).

IOC REVENUE DISTRIBUTION (%)

10%
IOC activities to 

develop sport and 
operations of the IOC 
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IOC REVENUE 2013-2016

Source: IOC’s audited financial statements
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1  The Olympiad currently under review covers  

2017-2020, a period that includes the  

Olympic Winter Games PyeongChang 2018
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IOC revenue distribution

The IOC distributed USD 0.6 billion of 
revenue in 2019. At the end of 2019, the 
total distribution in the current Olympiad 
stood at USD 3.1 billion. 

IOC distribution is allocated through 
direct IOC contributions towards 
different organisations throughout the 
Olympic Movement, as well as various 
IOC activities, projects and programmes 
aimed at supporting the staging of the 
Games and promoting the worldwide 
development of sport and the Olympic 
Movement. Among others, this includes 
distribution to the following recipients:

Olympic Solidarity/National  
Olympic Committees (OS/NOCs)

The IOC distributes revenue to each  
of the 206 NOCs throughout the world  
to train and develop their Olympic 
hopefuls, athletes and teams. The IOC 
also contributes revenue to Olympic 
Solidarity, an autonomous commission 
that distributes revenue to NOCs.  
The PyeongChang 2018 revenue 
distribution to Olympic Solidarity/NOCs 
was more than double the equivalent 
revenue distribution following Salt Lake 
City 2002.

The Organising Committees  
for the Olympic Games (OCOGs)

The IOC contribution supports the 
staging of the Summer and Winter 
editions of the Games. This includes 
direct contributions to the OCOGs 
(through the share of the television 
broadcasting rights and TOP rights); 
considerable costs that previously  
had been borne by the OCOGs, such  
as the host broadcast operation; and 
various forms of Games support to the 
OCOGs, including through its Transfer of 
Knowledge programmes. The OCOGs 
also raise additional revenue through 
domestic commercial activities facilitated 
by the authorised use of the Olympic 
marks with the OCOGs’ symbols. 

Compared to Salt Lake City 2002,  
the IOC contribution to support the 
staging of the Olympic Winter Games 
PyeongChang 2018 was more than  
60% higher.

IOC contribution to  
support the Games  USD million

Olympic Summer Games

2004 Athens  965

2008 Beijing  1,250

2012 London  1,374

2016 Rio  1,531

Olympic Winter Games

2002 Salt Lake City 552

2006 Turin 561

2010 Vancouver 775

2014 Sochi 833

2018 PyeongChang 887

Source: IOC’s audited financial statements

Gross revenue to OS/NOCs  USD million

Olympic Summer Games

2004 Athens  234

2008 Beijing  301

2012 London  520

2016 Rio  540

Olympic Winter Games

2002 Salt Lake City 87

2006 Turin  136

2010 Vancouver  215

2014 Sochi 199

2018 PyeongChang 215
 
Source: IOC’s audited financial statements
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International Federations (IFs)

The IOC provides revenue to the IFs. 
These funds, which are used to support 
the development of sport worldwide,  
are distributed after the completion  
of the Games in which the IF is active. 
The PyeongChang 2018 revenue 
distribution to the IFs was more than 
double the equivalent revenue distribution 
following Salt Lake City 2002. 

IOC-Recognised Organisations  
and Federations

The IOC contributes to recognised 
international organisations, including the 
World Anti-Doping Agency (WADA), the 
International Council of Arbitration for 
Sport (ICAS), the International Olympic 
Academy (IOA), the International Testing 
Agency (ITA) and the International 
Paralympic Committee (IPC). The IOC 
also supports the IPC by enabling 
Paralympic athletes to compete in the 
same city as the Olympic Games,  
benefit from the same Organising 
Committee, use the same sports  
venues and facilities, and enjoy the  
same conditions for official travel and 
accommodation as Olympic athletes. 

A total of USD 44 million was distributed 
in 2019, making the total contribution for 
the current Olympiad USD 139 million.

The Youth Olympic Games (YOG)  
and the Youth Olympic Games  
Organising Committees (YOGOCs)

The IOC contribution supports the 
staging of the YOG. Celebrated for the 
first time in Singapore in 2010, the YOG 
is a new Olympic tradition that engages 
young people through sport, education 
and cultural programmes. 

IOC contribution to  
support the YOG  USD million

Summer YOG

2010 Singapore  40

2014 Nanjing  50

2018 Buenos Aires 64

Winter YOG

2012 Innsbruck  20

2016 Lillehammer  35
 
Source: IOC’s audited financial statements

Gross revenue to IFs  USD million

Olympic Summer Games

2004 Athens  257

2008 Beijing  297

2012 London  520

2016 Rio  540

Olympic Winter Games

2002 Salt Lake City 92

2006 Turin  128

2010 Vancouver  209

2014 Sochi 199

2018 PyeongChang 215
 
Source: IOC’s audited financial statements
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ASSETS

TOTAL 
5 335 698

Current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Fund balances

TOTAL 
2 820 993

TOTAL 
2 514 705

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Non-current 
assets

3 529 565

593 979

2 227 014

2 514 7051 806 133

Strong financial position

The IOC shows a healthy and strong 
financial position at 31 December 2019. 
Total assets stand at USD 5.3 billion: 
current assets stand at USD 3.5 billion, 
while non-current assets stand at  
USD 1.8 billion. Cash and other financial 
assets, totalling USD 4.7 billion, represent 
89% of the IOC’s total financial position.

The IOC’s total liabilities of USD 2.8 billion 
represent 53% of its total financial 
position. This is more than fully covered 
by the IOC’s current assets, illustrating  
the IOC’s overall financial health and 
long-term sustainability.

The IOC’s fund balance stands at USD 
2.5 billion, which represents 47% of its 
total financial position. Of the total fund 
balance, 84% is undesignated to cover 
the expenditure and contributions 
planned during non-Games years where 
no Games revenue will be recognised,  
as well as for the Olympic Foundation  
as part of the IOC’s risk management 
strategy. The IOC designated fund,  
at 16% of the total fund balances, is 
designated for the financing of Olympic 
Solidarity’s annual programmes to  
secure financial assistance for the  
NOCs, as well as for financial assistance 
to the Olympic Movement through the  
Olympic Movement Fund.

IOC CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 (USD 000)
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Report of the Statutory Auditor 
to the Session 

Opinion

We have audited the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the International 
Olympic Committee and its subsidiaries 
(the Group), which comprise the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position as at 31 December 2019  
and the Consolidated Statement of 
Activities, Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows, and 
Consolidated Statement of Changes  
in Fund Balances for the year ended,  
and notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
(pages 126-172) give a true and fair view 
of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2019 and 
its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with  
the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and comply with  
Swiss law and the Olympic Charter.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Swiss law, International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss Auditing 
Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are 
further described in the “Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements” 
section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the provisions of Swiss 
law and the requirements of the Swiss 
audit profession, as well as the 
International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants (IESBA) Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Other information in the Annual Report

The Executive Board is responsible for 
the other information in the IOC Annual 
Report. The other information comprises 
all information included in the IOC 
Annual Report, but does not include  
the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements does not cover  
the other information in the IOC Annual 
Report and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements,  
our responsibility is to read the other 
information in the IOC Annual Report 

and, in doing so, consider whether  
the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the Consolidated 
Financial Statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  
If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Executive Board for 
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Executive Board is responsible for 
the preparation of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with IFRS, the 
provisions of Swiss law and the Olympic 
Charter, and for such internal control as 
the Executive Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of 
Consolidated Financial Statements that 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the Executive Board is 
responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless  
the Executive Board either intends  
to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic  
alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for  
the audit of the Consolidated  
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the 
Consolidated Financial Statements  
as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud  
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Swiss 
law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these Consolidated Financial Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 
Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing 
Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

   Identify and assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements, 
whether due to fraud or error,  
design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations,  
or the override of internal control.

   Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order  
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances,  
but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

   Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures 
made.

   Conclude on the appropriateness  
of the Executive Board’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events  
or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.  
If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required  
to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause  
the Group to cease to continue as  
a going concern.

   Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements, 
including the disclosures, and 
whether the Consolidated Financial 
Statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

   Obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express 
an opinion on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of  
the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Executive 
Board or its relevant committee 
regarding, among other matters,  
the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

Report on other legal and  
regulatory requirements

In accordance with article 69b 
paragraph 3 CC in connection with 
article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO  
and Swiss Auditing Standard 890,  
we confirm that an internal control 
system exists which has been designed 
for the preparation of Consolidated 
Financial Statements according to the 
instructions of the Executive Board.

We recommend that the Consolidated 
Financial Statements submitted to you 
be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers SA

Travis Randolph Gérard Ambrosio
Audit expert  Audit expert
Auditor in charge 

Lausanne
10 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
In thousands of US dollars (USD 000) At 31 December

Notes  2019  2018

Assets   

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 4  854 288  998 234 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5  1 314 695  1 190 698 

Receivables and other current assets 7  1 204 064  80 499 

Olympic Games-related deferred expenditure 11  156 518  – 

 3 529 565  2 269 431 

Non-current assets    

Financial assets 5   1 368 770   1 441 346 

Investments in associates 6  –   1 890 

Tangible fixed assets 8  306 637   258 243 

Intangible fixed assets 9  58 866   59 617 

Olympic Games-related deferred expenditure 11  71 860   115 776 

 1 806 133   1 876 872 

Total assets  5 335 698   4 146 303 

  

Liabilities and fund balances      

Current liabilities      

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 10   358 442   341 053 

Olympic Games-related advances 11   1 713 986   – 

Deferred income 11   147 661   109 059 

Financial liabilities 13   6 925   484 

    2 227 014   450 596 

Non-current liabilities      

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 10   6 871   29 112 

Olympic Games-related advances 11   378 816   1 023 661 

Deferred income 11   2 425   23 357 

Financial liabilities 13   133 514   111 842 

Net pension plan obligations 12   72 353   59 194 

    593 979   1 247 166 

Fund balances      

Undesignated    2 095 434   1 880 203 

Designated 14   412 565   561 194 

Cumulative translation adjustment    34 097   32 643 

Cash flow hedges    (27 391)   (25 499)

    2 514 705   2 448 541 

Total liabilities and fund balances    5 335 698   4 146 303 

The notes on pages 131 to 172 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Activities
In thousands of US dollars (USD 000)   For the years ended 31 December

    2019   2018

   Undesignated
 

Designated
(note 14)

Total
 

Undesignated
 

Designated
(note 14)

Total
  Notes       

Revenue              

Television broadcasting rights 15   –   –   –   1 435 804   –   1 435 804 

TOP programme marketing rights 16   548 248   –   548 248   550 117   –   550 117 

Other rights 17   119 102   –   119 102   108 203   –   108 203 

Other revenue 18   27 143   45   27 188   110 402   1 242   111 644 

    694 493   45   694 538   2 204 526   1 242   2 205 768 

              

Expenditure              

Olympic Games-related expenditure, contributions and special projects

Olympic Games-related expenditure 19   –   –   –   (351 353)   (12 913)   (364 266)

Youth Olympic Games-related 
expenditure

20   (5 567)   (5 189)   (10 756)   (32 240)   (28 202)   (60 442)

Grants and contributions    (6 891)   (39 944)   (46 835)   (8 046)   (44 993)   (53 039)

Olympic Solidarity programme 21   –   (111 311)   (111 311)   –   (106 047)   (106 047)

Special projects    (13 539)   (1 564)   (15 103)   (8 549)   (11 430)   (19 979)

    (25 997)   (158 008)   (184 005)   (400 188)   (203 585)   (603 773)

              

Distribution of revenue to OCOG, NOCs, USOPC and IFs

Revenue distribution 22   –   –   –   (934 536)   184 281   (750 255)

TOP programme marketing rights 22   (283 407)   –   (283 407)   (403 024)   –   (403 024)

    (283 407)   –   (283 407)   (1 337 560)   184 281   (1 153 279)

              

Promotion of the Olympic Movement 24   (124 320)   –   (124 320)   (132 728)   –   (132 728)

              

Operating expenditure 23   (180 805)   (7 757)   (188 562)   (170 187)   (7 707)   (177 894)

              

Excess of revenue/(expenditure) 
before financial income    79 964   (165 720)   (85 756)   163 863   (25 769)   138 094 

              

Financial income/(expense), net 26   142 524   17 091   159 615   21 464   5 550   27 014 

Share of profit/(loss) of associates    –   –   –   49   –   49 

Excess of revenue/(expenditure)    222 488   (148 629)   73 859   185 376   (20 219)   165 157 

The notes on pages 131 to 172 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

In thousands of US dollars (USD 000) For the years ended 31 December

2019  2018

Excess of revenue/(expenditure) 73 859   165 157 

Other comprehensive income/(loss):    

Items that will not be reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Activities    

Remeasurements of defined benefit obligations (note 12)  (7 257)   (12 988)

   

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Activities    

Cash flow hedges  (1 892)   29 004 

Translation adjustment  1 454   (637)

   

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  (7 695)   15 379 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  66 164   180 536 

In thousands of US dollars (USD 000) For the years ended 31 December

 2019  2018 

Operating activities   

Excess of (expenditure)/revenue  73 859  165 157 

Adjustments for:   

– Excess of television broadcasting rights revenue over distribution (78 141) (607 408)

– Recognition of Olympic Games-related deferred income and expenditure, net  –   90 704 

– Financial (income)/expense before other financial expenses  (160 330)   (31 198)

– Depreciation and amortisation  31 074   39 359 

– Share of profit/(loss) of associates  (394)   49 

– Foreign exchange differences  1 690   52 795 

  (132 242)   (290 542)

The notes on pages 131 to 172 are an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
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Changes in:    

– Olympic Games-related deferred expenditure  (112 603)   (43 640)

– Accounts payable and accrued expenses  9 872   18 710 

– Other receivables and other assets  (54 896)   26 418 

  (157 627)   1 488 

TV rights, TOP rights receipts and allocations and change in revenue share:    

– Olympic Games-related deferred income (revenue share and TOP marketing rights)  (44 210)   1 579 

– Disbursement of Olympic Games-related advances to USOPC and OCOGs (including TOP)  (321 374)   (751 421)

– Receipt of Olympic Games-related advances (TV rights)  481 935   1 418 822 

– Increase in TOP receivables, net of related payables  2 302   (28 656)

– Change in OCOG receivables (revenue share), net of related payables  40 445   89 980 

  159 098   730 304 

Interest received  52 534   52 392 

Interest paid  (993)   (76)

  51 541   52 316 

    

Net cash generated by/(used in) operating activities  (79 230)   493 566 

    

Investing activities    

Purchase of fixed assets  (58 492)   (62 593)

Purchase of financial assets through profit and loss  (976 947)   (1 837 225)

Proceeds from sales of financial assets through profit and loss  944 302   1 580 025 

Dividends from associates  –   118 

Proceeds from sales of associates  –   9 690 

Net cash generated by/(used in) investing activities  (91 137)   (309 985)

    

Financing activities    

Proceeds from borrowings and lease cash movement  25 746   54 408 

Net cash generated by/(used in) in financing activities  25 746   54 408 

    

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (144 621)   237 989 

    

Movement in cash and cash equivalents    

At start of year  998 234   758 179 

Increase/(decrease)  (144 621)   237 989 

Effects of exchange rate changes  675   2 066 

At end of year  854 288   998 234 

The notes on pages 131 to 172 are an integral part of the financial statements.
The impact of the IFRS 16 adoption on the 2019 consolidated cash flow statement is detailed in note 8 and note 13.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
In thousands of US dollars (USD 000) For the years ended 31 December

 2019  2018 
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The notes on pages 131 to 172 are an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Fund Balances

In thousands of US dollars (USD 000)
 

Undesignated 
funds

 

Designated 
funds

 

Cumulative 
translation 

adjustments
 

Cash flow 
hedges

 
Total

Balance at 1 January 2018   1 707 815   581 413   33 280   (54 503)   2 268 005 

Excess of revenue/(expenditure) recognised in the  
Consolidated Statement of Activities

  185 376   (20 219)   –   –   165 157 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year   (12 988)   –   (637)   29 004   15 379 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year           180 536 

Balance at 31 December 2018   1 880 203   561 194   32 643   (25 499)   2 448 541 

Excess of revenue/(expenditure) recognised in the  
Consolidated Statement of Activities

  222 488   (148 629)   –   –   73 859 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year   (7 257)   –   1 454   (1 892)   (7 695)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year           66 164 

Balance at 31 December 2019   2 095 434   412 565   34 097   (27 391)   2 514 705 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
1. Activity

The International Olympic Committee 
(IOC), domiciled in Lausanne, Switzerland, 
is an international non-governmental 
not-for-profit organisation in the form of 
an association with the status of a legal 
person. The mission of the IOC is to lead 
the Olympic Movement in accordance 
with the Olympic Charter. The Olympic 
Movement encompasses organisations, 
athletes and other persons who agree  
to be guided by the Olympic Charter, 
including, in addition to the IOC, the 
International Federations (IFs), the 
National Olympic Committees (NOCs) 
including the United States Olympic & 
Paralympic Committee (USOPC) and the 
Organising Committees for the Olympic 
Games (OCOGs).

The IOC’s revenue is largely generated 
from royalties on licensing television 
broadcasting rights for the Olympic 
Games, as well as revenue from the 
commercial exploitation of the Olympic 
symbol and Olympic emblems.

In addition to the activities of the IOC, 
these Consolidated Financial Statements 
include the activities of the following 
organisations and programmes:

   The Olympic Foundation for Culture 
and Heritage (OFCH), a foundation 
governed by the provisions of the 
Swiss Civil Code. It has been 
entrusted by the IOC with the task of 
depicting the history and development 
of the Olympic Movement and 

associating the Movement with  
art and culture for specialists and  
the public at large worldwide.

   The Olympic Foundation (OF), a 
foundation governed by the provisions 
of the Swiss Civil Code. It has been 
entrusted by the IOC to give support 
to the activities of the Olympic 
Movement, notably in the areas of 
culture, education and sport.

   Olympic Solidarity (OS), a programme 
developed jointly by the IOC and the 
NOCs. Its purpose is to assist the 
officially recognised NOCs, especially 
those most in need, to fulfil their 
mission and make known the ideals 
of the Olympic Movement.

   IOC Television and Marketing 
Services SA (IOCTMS), a company 
fully owned by the OF that manages 
the IOC’s worldwide sponsorship 
programme, all its other marketing 
activities, and activities related to 
broadcasting rights and new media.

   The Olympic Partner (TOP) 
Programme, the IOC’s worldwide 
sponsorship programme, which is 
managed by IOCTMS.

   Olympic Broadcasting Services SA 
(OBS SA), a company fully owned  
by the OF, that supplies all services 
relating to the establishment and 
management of the Host Broadcasting 
function of the Olympic Games.

   Olympic Broadcasting Services SL 
(OBS SL), a company that provides 
services to OBS SA and is a  
fully-owned subsidiary of OBS SA.

   Olympic Channel Services SA (OCS 
SA), a company fully owned by the OF, 
which provides any types of services 
in relation to audio-visual programmes 
relating to the Olympic Movement and 
to sport, and ensures the distribution 
of such programmes through all 
available media, including through 
digital and linear broadcasting.

   Olympic Channel Services Spain SL 
(OCS SL), a company that provides 
services to OCS SA and is a fully 
owned subsidiary of OCS SA.

The activities of the OFCH, OF, OS, 
IOCTMS, TOP, OBS SA, OBS SL, OCS 
SA and OCS SL have been consolidated 
with those of the IOC (together, the IOC 
or the Group) on the basis of the fact  
that the latter has a 100 per cent 
shareholding or control on the boards  
of each organisation and programme.

On 5 December 2017, the Olympic 
Refuge Foundation (ORF) was founded. 
The ORF is not consolidated in the 
Group’s Financial Statements as per  
the Group’s IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements assessment.  
The IOC provides the ORF with 
operational and administrational 
services. The costs related to the 
provision of these services are  
presented as expenditure in the Group’s 
Consolidated Statement of Activities.
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2.  Summary of Significant 
 Accounting Policies

A) Basis of preparation

The Consolidated Financial Statements 
are prepared in accordance with and 
comply with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The 
significant accounting policies are 
described below and have been 
consistently applied to the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.  
The financial statements are prepared 
under the historical cost convention 
except for Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and Derivative 
financial instruments, which are shown  
at fair value. Transactions and balances 
among the consolidated organisations 
and programmes have been eliminated.

The preparation of financial statements  
in conformity with the IFRS requires the 
use of accounting estimates and also the 
exercise of judgement in the application  
of the accounting policies. In particular, 
significant assumptions are used in  
the calculation of the defined benefit 
obligations (note 12).

These Consolidated Financial 
Statements were approved by the  
IOC Executive Board on 10 June 2020.

The amounts shown in these 
Consolidated Financial Statements  
are presented in US dollars, in view of 
the international nature of the IOC’s 
operations and due to the majority of its 
revenue being earned in that currency.

Change in presentation

This is the first set of the Group’s 
financial statements for which IFRS 16 
has been implemented. The changes in 
accounting policies are described below.

Change in accounting policies

IFRS 16 – Leases

The Group adopted IFRS 16 – Leases 
from 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 – Leases 
sets out the principles for the 
recognition, measurement,  
presentation and disclosure of leases.  
It replaces IAS 17 – Leases and its 
related interpretations. 

The Group has elected to apply IFRS 16 
retrospectively using the simplified 
method as permitted by the standard. 
Under this specific transitional provision, 
the lessee is allowed to recognise a 
right-of-use asset and a lease liability  
at the date of initial application for leases 
previously classified as operating lease 
under IAS 17, without restating 2018 
comparative figures. Management has 
opted to measure the right-of-use assets 
at an amount equal to the lease liability, 
which is the present value of the 
remaining payments discounted using 
the incremental borrowing rate at the 
date of initial application. 

The adjustment resulting from the  
first application of the standard is the 

recognition of a right-of-use asset  
(note 8) and a corresponding lease 
liability (note 13) of USD 11.6 million in  
the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position on 1 January 2019 which  
had no effect in the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows. 

The related disclosures are presented 
under note 8, Tangible Assets, and  
note 13, Financial Liabilities.

As none of the entities in the Group acts 
as a lessor, no adjustments were made 
to the accounting for assets held as 
lessor under operating leases as a  
result of the adoption of IFRS 16.

Standards, amendments and  
interpretations not yet effective and  
which have not been early adopted

A number of new standards and 
amendments to standards and 
interpretations are effective for  
annual periods beginning after  
31 December 2019, and have not  
been applied in preparing these 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Standard Title Effective date

IFRS 17 
Insurance 
Contracts 

01/01/2021

IFRS 17 is not expected to have a 
significant effect on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Group.  
There are no other IFRS or IFRIC 
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b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency income and expenditure 
are accounted at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transactions. 
Gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Activities. 
Non-monetary items carried at historical 
cost denominated in a foreign currency 
are reported using the historical exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction.

C) Consolidation

a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including the 
structured entities) over which the Group 
has control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to or has  
the right to variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. They are deconsolidated from 
the date that such control ceases.

interpretations that are not yet effective 
that would be expected to have a 
material impact on the Group.

B) Foreign currencies

a) Group companies

Items included in the financial  
statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment  
in which the entity operates (“the 
functional currency”). 

The Consolidated Statements of 
Activities of the Group’s entities that  
have a functional currency different from 
the presentation currency have been 
translated into US dollars at average 
exchange rates for the year and the 
Statements of Financial Position at  
the year-end exchange rates as at  
31 December 2019 and 2018. Exchange 
differences arising from such translation 
have been taken into account in the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes  
in Fund Balances.

The main exchange rates used are  
as follows:

Year-end rates Average rates

1 USD against 2019 2018 2019 2018

Swiss Franc CHF 0.9664 0.9828 0.9928 0.9772

Euro EUR 0.8904 0.8732 0.8940 0.8486

The Group uses the acquisition method 
of accounting to account for business 
combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a 
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and 
the equity interests issued by the Group. 
The consideration transferred includes 
the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs 
are expensed as incurred. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the Group recognises 
any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s net assets. 

The excess of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any  
non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
and the acquisition-date fair value of any 
previous equity interest in the acquiree 
over the fair value of the Group’s share of 
the identifiable net assets acquired, is 
recorded as goodwill. If this is less than 
the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired in the case of a 
bargain purchase, the difference is 
recognised directly in the Consolidated 
Statement of Activities.

Inter-company transactions, balances 
and unrealised gains on transactions 
between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Group.
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b) Transactions with  
non-controlling interests

The Group owns 100 per cent of its  
subsidiaries. As such there are no  
non-controlling interests. 

c) Associates

Associates are all entities over which  
the Group has significant influence but 
no control, generally accompanying  
a shareholding of between 20 per cent 
and 50 per cent of the voting rights.  
In 2019, the equity method is no longer 
applied on the basis of materiality. 
Investments in associates are accounted 
as Financial assets in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position in 2019. 
The result from discontinuing the use  
of the equity method is presented under 
other financial income (note 26). 

D) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets 
in the following categories: Fair value 
through profit or loss, and Amortised 
cost. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial assets 
were acquired. Management determines 
the classification of its financial assets at 
initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date.

a) Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified in this 
category if acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the short term  
(held for trading). Assets in this category 
are classified as current assets if they  
are expected to be realised within  
12 months of the balance sheet date.

The group classifies the following  
assets at fair value through profit  
or loss (FVTPL):

   debt investments that do not qualify 
for measurement at amortised cost;

   equity investments that are held for 
trading; and

    derivatives.

b) Financial assets at amortised costs

Financial assets at amortised cost  
are non-derivative financial assets  
with fixed and determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. 
These assets are held within a business 
model whose objective is to collect  
the contractual cash flows. They are 
included in Current assets, except for 
maturities greater than 12 months after 
the balance sheet date. These are 
classified as Non-current assets.

Regular purchases and sales of 
investments are recognised on 
settlement date. Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are initially 
recognised at fair value and transaction 
costs are expensed in the Consolidated 
Statement of Activities. They are 
subsequently carried at fair value. 
Investments are derecognised when  
the rights to receive cash flows from  
the investments have expired or have 
been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership. Receivables are 
carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of the Financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss category, 
including interest and dividend income, 

are presented in the Consolidated 
Statement of Activities within Financial 
income/(expenditure), net, in the period 
in which they arise.

Observable market data were compiled 
to proceed to an ECL impairment analysis 
for financial assets at amortised cost  
and results in no material impairment. 

E) Deferred expenditure

Expenditure relating to the Olympic 
Games (the “Games”) not yet held is 
deferred and recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Activities 
upon the successful completion of the 
Games. These include costs incurred on 
certain projects which provide benefits 
to a number of editions of the Games.
Expenditure relating to the Youth 
Olympic Games is recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Activities 
when incurred. 

F) Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at  
cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Broadcasting equipment is depreciated 
according to its effective use during  
the Olympic Summer Games and 
Olympic Winter Games once every  
two years.

Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated 
on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the assets as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Building and land installations from 20 to 25 years
Leasehold improvements, 
furniture and equipment

from 5 to 10 years

Hardware 4 years
Collections from 0 to 25 years
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Land is stated at cost and is not 
depreciated. New building and land 
installations as well as major renewals  
are capitalised; maintenance, repairs  
and minor renewals are charged to the 
Consolidated Statement of Activities  
as incurred.

The depreciation period and method are 
reviewed at least at the end of every 
reporting period.

G) Intangible fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets are initially 
measured based on the costs incurred 
to acquire the assets or to put them  
into service. After initial recognition, they 
are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Amortisation is calculated on a  
straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the assets as follows: 

Software and licences from 4 to 5 years
Multimedia library from 4 to 10 years
Collections Unamortised

Information technology project
Assessed on a 

case-by-case basis

The amortisation period and method  
are reviewed at least at the end of every 
reporting period.

H) Content production

Content production for the Olympic 
Channel digital platform is initially 
measured based on the costs incurred 
to acquire or produce the content and is 
directly expensed in the Consolidated 
Statement of Activities in the Olympic 
Channel costs (disclosed under 
Promotion of the Olympic Movement).

I) Pension obligations

The Group sponsors pension plans for 
employees of the IOC, OFCH and 
IOCTMS. These plans are cash-balance 
plans treated as a defined benefit plan 
for financial reporting purposes.  
The plan assets are separated and 
managed independently from the 
Group’s assets. Furthermore,  
the Group pays contributions to  
savings plans for OBS SL, OCS SL,  
IOC and IOCTMS.

The liability or the asset recognised  
in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position in respect of defined 
benefit pension plans is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligations 
at the end of the reporting period  
less the fair value of the plan assets. 
The defined benefit obligations are 
calculated annually by an independent 
actuary using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the 
defined benefit obligations is 
determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rates of high-quality corporate 
bonds that are denominated in the 
currency in which the benefits will be 
paid, and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the 
related pension obligations.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes  
in actuarial assumptions are charged  
or credited to equity in Other 
comprehensive income in the period  
in which they arise.

Past-service costs are recognised 
immediately in the Consolidated 
Statement of Activities.

J) Provision

The Group records a provision when  
a present obligation has arisen as a 
result of a past event, financial outflow  
is probable, and the amount can be 
estimated reliably. Provisions are 
measured at the best estimate  
(including risks and uncertainties) of  
the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation. Where there are a 
number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be  
required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a 
whole. A provision is recognised even if 
the likelihood of an outflow with respect 
to any one item included in the same 
class of obligations may be small. Each 
provision is measured at the present 
value of management’s best estimate  
of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period. Each provision is 
reassessed each year. If an outflow  
is no longer probable, the provision  
is reversed. 

The Group recorded a provision for  
the Olympic Games doping control 
programme, representing the Group’s 
obligation to conduct a doping control 
programme for each Olympic Games 
edition aligned with the World Anti-Doping 
Code. The balance of this provision is 
presented under Accounts payable and 
accrued expenditure (note 10).

K) Financial liabilities

Bank borrowings are financial liabilities 
categorised at amortised cost. The fair 
value of borrowings equals their carrying 
amount, as the impact of discounting is 
not significant.
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L) Designated funds 

Funds designated for the financing of  
the quadrennial programme of Olympic 
Solidarity and the tripartite assistance to 
organisations of the Olympic Movement 
(the Olympic Movement Fund) are 
reported as Designated funds in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position. The balance of these funds 
consists of unutilised allocations from the 
previous programmes to be used for the 
future programme of Olympic Solidarity 
and the Olympic Movement Fund.  
Refer also to note 14.

M) Revenue recognition

a) Television broadcasting rights

Royalties from the licensing of television 
rights to broadcast the Olympic  
Games and Youth Olympic Games are 
recognised on the successful completion 
of the respective Games (at a point in 
time). Instalments received by the IOC 
prior to this date are deferred as they may 
be repayable (contract liabilities), in whole 
or in part, to the television networks at 
any time up to the completion of the 
Games upon the occurrence, for any 
reason, of one or more conditions 
specified in the agreements.

The promised amount of television 
broadcasting rights is adjusted for the 
effects of the time value of money  
if the timing of payments agreed in the 
contract provides the customer with  
a significant benefit of financing.  
The interest revenue generated, if any,  
is presented separately from Television 
broadcasting rights under financial 
income in the Consolidated Statements 
of Activities. 

b) TOP rights

Revenue from TOP rights is received  
in cash, Value in Kind (VIK) and 
Marketing in Kind (MIK). VIK and MIK 
may be convertible to cash depending 
on the specific contracts. 

TOP rights revenue received in cash  
as well as VIK and MIK convertible to 
cash are recorded over time. This 
revenue will be received by the IOC 
regardless of the nature. If not used as 
VIK or MIK, it will be received in cash  
by the end of the term. The licence to 
use the Olympic mark is transferred 
throughout the term of the contract 
(output method). VIK and MIK  
non-convertible to cash are recorded  
at a point in time in the period the  
goods or services are rendered.

VIK and MIK revenue is recorded based 
on their underlying fair value. Fair value  
is considered to be the estimated  
market price obtainable between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm's length transaction.

c) Other rights

Other rights include revenue from  
the commercial exploitation of the 
Olympic symbol and Olympic emblems. 
The revenue represents the Group’s 
share of the OCOGs’ marketing 
programmes, as well as income from 
other sponsorship, supply and licensing 
agreements. The revenue is recorded  
in the period the instalments become 
due (at a point in time), which 
corresponds to the period where  
the underlying sales are recognised.  
Part of this revenue is received in the 
form of goods or services (VIK).

d) Other revenue

Other revenue includes Unilateral and 
Paralympic broadcast revenue as well 
as other IOC entities’ revenue. Unilateral 
and Paralympic broadcast revenue  
is recognised on the successful 
completion of the respective Olympic 
Games (at a point in time). Other 
revenue linked to the successful delivery 
of the Olympic Games is recognised at 
a point in time at the completion of the 
related Olympic Games. Instalments 
received by the IOC prior to this date 
are deferred as they may be repayable, 
in whole or in part, at any time up to  
the completion of the Games upon  
the occurrence of several conditions 
specified in the agreements. Other 
revenue in this financial statement line 
item are recorded in the period the 
instalments become due (at a point  
in time).

e) Financing components

The Group does not consider the 
instalments received in advance in 
relation to the television broadcasting 
rights as financing arrangements under 
IFRS 15. Moreover, the Group does not 
expect to have any other contracts 
where the period between the transfer  
of the services to the customer and 
payment by the customer exceeds one 
year. Therefore, the Group does not 
book any valuation adjustments for the 
time value of money.

N) Revenue distribution

In application of the recommendation 
made during the XIII Olympic Congress 
in Copenhagen in 2009, distributable 
revenue from the successful completion 
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of the Olympic Games includes cash  
and VIK revenue from television 
broadcasting rights, TOP rights and  
part of the royalties income. Revenue 
distributed to OCOGs and the USOPC, 
and Olympic Games-related expenditure, 
are deducted from the distributable 
revenue to calculate the equal shares 
attributable to the IFs, the NOCs and  
the IOC.

The TOP rights proceeds, net of related 
management fees, are allocated 
between the IOC, OCOGs and NOCs 
based on a standard formula agreed by 
the parties. Such distribution is recorded 
in line with the aforementioned policy 
with respect to the recognition of  
TOP rights.

O) Income taxes

The IOC, the OF and the OFCH are 
exempt from paying income taxes. 
Income taxes expensed by IOCTMS, 
OBS SA and OBS SL, as at 31 
December 2019 and 2018, are included 
in Operating expenditure and amount  
to USD 0.276 million in 2019 and  
USD 1.565 million in 2018. Income taxes 
expensed by OCS SA and OCS SL are 
included in the Olympic Channel costs 
(disclosed under Promotion of the 
Olympic Movement) and amount  
to USD 0.402 million in 2019 and  
USD 0.274 million in 2018.

P) Accounting for derivative financial 
instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract  
is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value. The 
method of recognising the resulting  

gain or loss depends on whether the 
derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument, and if so, the nature of  
the item being hedged. All fair value 
changes of derivatives not designated  
as hedging instruments are recognised 
immediately in the Consolidated 
Statement of Activities.

The Group designates certain derivatives 
as hedges of a particular risk associated 
with a recognised asset or liability, or  
a highly probable forecast transaction 
(cash flow hedges).

Certain financial instrument transactions 
provide effective economic hedges 
under the Group’s risk management 
policies; however, they do not qualify for 
hedge accounting under the specific 
rules in IFRS 9. As a consequence, the 
hedging instrument and the hedged item 
are reported independently as if there 
were no hedging relationship.

At the inception of the transaction,  
the Group documents the relationship 
between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management 
objectives and strategy for undertaking 
various hedging transactions. The Group 
also documents its assessment, both at 
hedge inception and on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the derivatives that are 
used in hedging transactions are effective 
in offsetting changes in the cash flows of 
hedged items.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in  
the fair value of financial assets that  
are designated and qualify as cash  
flow hedges is recognised in Other 
comprehensive income. Amounts 

accumulated in equity are reclassified to 
the Consolidated Statement of Activities 
in the periods when the hedged item 
affects profit or loss (for example, when 
the forecast distribution that is hedged 
takes place). When a hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, or when a hedge  
no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or  
loss existing in equity at that time 
remains in equity and is recognised 
when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Activities. When a forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that 
was reported in equity is immediately 
transferred to the Consolidated 
Statement of Activities within Financial 
income/(expenditure), net.
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A) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a 
variety of financial risks, including the 
effects of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates and interest rates.

Its overall risk management programme 
seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the activities of the Group.  
The Group uses derivative financial 
instruments such as foreign currency 
options, interest rate swaps, swaptions 
and forward contracts to cover certain 
exposures. 

Risk management is carried out by  
the Treasury section under the limits 
determined by the Finance Committee 
and the policies approved by the  
IOC Executive Board.

a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign 
exchange risks mainly because most  
of its revenue is generated in various 
currencies, including USD, EUR, GBP, 
AUD, CAD and JPY, whereas its 
operating expenditure is essentially 
CHF-based. Foreign currency option  
and forward contracts are used to 
reduce the related exposure. 

The full fair value of a hedging derivative 
is classified as a non-current asset or 
liability when the remaining maturity of 
the hedged item is more than 12 months 
and as a current asset or liability when 
the remaining maturity of the hedged 

3. Financial Risk Management

item is less than 12 months. Trading 
derivatives are classified as a current 
asset or liability.

A portion of the IOC’s JPY portfolio, 
amounting to USD 422.4 million (2018: 
USD 591.3 million), has been designated 
as a hedging instrument to hedge 
currency risks on future JPY-based 
disbursements from the IOC contribution 
(Cash flow hedges). The contribution 
was originally planned to be paid by the 
Group in 2020 and has been delayed to 
2021 following the postponement of the 
Olympic Games Tokyo 2020. It will be 
allocated to the Olympic Games Tokyo 
2020 expenditure. The effective portion 
of exchange gain on the related JPY 
portfolio has been recognised in  
Other comprehensive income, for a  
total amount of USD 3.4 million (2018: 
USD 24.9 million gain). 

A currency forward contract,  
amounting to USD 550.6 million  
(2018: USD 550.6 million), has been 
designated as a hedging instrument  
to hedge currency risks on future 
JPY-based contractual broadcasting 
advances (Cash flow hedges).  
The contractual advances will be 
received by the Group between 2020 
and 2024. They will be allocated to future 
Games revenue, from the Olympic 
Games 2020 to 2024. The effective 
portion of change in fair value of the 
related forward contract has been 
recognised in Other comprehensive 
income, as a total loss of USD 5.2 million 
(2018: USD 12.9 million loss).

A portion of the IOC’s EUR portfolio, 
amounting to USD 0.3 million (2018:  
USD 0.6 million), has been designated  
as a hedging instrument to hedge 
currency risks on future EUR-based 
disbursements from the IOC contribution 
(Cash flow hedges). The disbursements 
will be paid by the Group between  
2020 and 2024. They will be allocated  
to future Games expenditure, from  
the Olympic Games 2020 to 2024.  
The effective portion of exchange loss  
on the related EUR has been recognised 
in Other comprehensive income, for a 
total amount of USD 0.1 million (2018: 
USD 1.0 million gain).

The 2019 gain of USD 19.1 million  
(2018: USD 11.2 million gain) relating  
to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the Consolidated 
Statement of Activities within Financial 
income/(expenditure), net.

In the current year, no deferred  
gain or loss arising from cash flow 
hedges has been recycled from  
Other comprehensive income to the 
Consolidated Statement of Activities 
(2018: USD 16 million loss).

The following table shows the Group’s 
sensitivity to the above-mentioned 
foreign currencies (in millions of USD).
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2019 2018

Impact on P/L Impact on equity Impact on P/L Impact on equity

10% decrease 
vs USD

10% increase 
vs USD

10% decrease 
vs USD

10% increase 
vs USD

10% decrease 
vs USD

10% increase 
vs USD

10% decrease 
vs USD

10% increase 
vs USD

EUR (14.7)  14.1 (0.0)  0.0 (7.9)  6.9 (0.1)  0.1 

JPY – – (30.7)  19.6 – – (25.9)  15.5 

CHF (4.5)  5.1 – – (6.3)  7.4 – –

AUD (6.5)  6.5 – – (5.8)  5.8 – –

GBP (2.5)  2.5 – – (3.0)  3.0 – –

CAD (2.9)  2.9 – – (1.9)  1.9 – –

b) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate 
risk through the impact of rate changes 
on interest-bearing assets. These 
exposures are managed partly through 
the use of derivative financial instruments 
such as interest rate swaps, rate options 
and swaptions.

At 31 December 2019, if the interest 
rates had increased by 1%, with all  
other variables held constant, Excess of 
revenue/(expenditure) for the year would 
have deteriorated by USD 28.6 million 
(2018: USD 30.5 million), mainly as a 
result of the change in the fair value of 
bond instruments included in Financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
If the rates had decreased by 1%, 
Excess of revenue/(expenditure) would 
have improved by USD 29.3 million 
(2018: USD 31.6 million).

c) Credit risk

A substantial part of the Group’s revenue 
is generated from the licensing of 
television broadcasting rights and  
other rights. The Group believes that all 
amounts due under such rights are fully 
collectible. The majority of broadcasting 
revenue is collected in advance of the 

Games. The Group has policies which 
limit the amount of credit and investment 
exposures. Cash is placed, derivative 
instruments are entered into, and 
custodian agreements are made with 
Swiss banks. Investment securities 
represent notes issued by major 
corporations and government entities,  
as well as investment fund units issued 
by major banks. The collectability from 
customers is highly probable, and no 
significant write-off was recognised  
in the past.

Observable market data were compiled 
to proceed with an ECL impairment 
analysis and no material impairment  
was found.

d) Market risk

The Group is exposed to market risk 
because of its Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss other than 
money market instruments. These 
exposures are managed by the Group 
using the financial risk management 
policies described below.

At 31 December 2019, if the equity 
indexes had increased/decreased by 
10%, with all other variables held 
constant, Excess of revenue/(expenditure) 

for the year would have improved/
deteriorated by USD 35.3 million  
(2018: USD 31.7 million), mainly as a result 
of the change in fair value of equity-based 
instruments included in Financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss.

e) Liquidity risk

The Treasury section monitors and 
manages cash at the Group level  
and prepares rolling forecasts of the 
Group’s liquidity position on an ongoing 
basis. Such forecasting takes into 
consideration the contractual terms  
of cash inflows and outflows under 
television broadcasting rights and TOP 
programme agreements, the IOC’s 
funding of contractual obligations 
towards other organisations of the 
Olympic Movement, and the operating 
expenses of the Group’s organisations 
and programmes. 

The table on the following page analyses 
the Group’s non-derivative financial 
liabilities and net settled derivative 
financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining 
period at the balance sheet date and  
the contractual maturity date. The 
amounts stated in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flow.
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At 31 December 2019 (USD 000) Under 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 years

Accounts payable  258 626  –  –  – 

Bank borrowings  1 863  1 863  5 588  112 530 

Balance at 31 December 2019  260 489  1 863  5 588  112 530 

 

At 31 December 2018 (USD 000)

Accounts payable  173 737  819 –  – 

Bank borrowings  –  – –  92 921 

Balance at 31 December 2018  173 737  819 –  92 921 

B) Financial risk management policy

a) Overview and objectives

The IOC receives and distributes funds 
to the various pillars of the Olympic 
Movement. The Finance Commission 
and the Executive Board adopt  
policies and procedures to govern the 
management of these funds, the level  
of market and credit risk that can  
be assumed, and the reports to  
be submitted. 

The policies described below are 
followed in the management of the 
funds directly under the control of the 
IOC. These funds are kept in four 
separate portfolios herein denominated 
as the IOC portfolio, the Olympic 
Foundation portfolio, the Olympic 
Solidarity portfolio and the TOP 
Programme portfolio.

The Olympic Foundation portfolio is the 
IOC’s primary reserve fund. Its purpose 
is to cover the IOC’s operating expenses 
over an Olympiad in which no Games 
are held, as part of the overall IOC risk 
management strategy.

The Olympic Solidarity portfolio holds 
the funds which are to be distributed  
by Olympic Solidarity.

The TOP Programme portfolio holds  
the funds to cover the risk of future 
deficits of the programme.

The objective of this policy statement  
is to outline for each portfolio: 

(a)  the purpose of the portfolio, its return 
objectives and its level of risk; 

(b)  the type of investment instruments 
permitted with the limits by type  
of instrument; 

(c)  the maximum market risk limits  
to be assumed by the portfolios,  
by duration and value-at-risk 
measures; 

(d)  the limits on debt investments  
by credit rating; and 

(e) the reporting requirements.

b) Responsibilities

The Finance Commission is responsible 
for recommending policies for approval 
by the Executive Board. These portfolios 
are managed by the Treasurer and 
overseen by the Treasury Committee 
and the Finance Commission. The 
members of the Treasury Committee  
are the IOC President, the Chair of the 
Finance Commission, the IOC Director 
General, the IOC Chief Operating  
Officer, the IOC Finance Director and  
the IOC Treasurer.

The Executive Board approves the 
investment strategy for the IOC, the 
Olympic Foundation and the TOP 
Programme portfolios on the 
recommendation of the Finance 
Commission, and thereafter exercises 
overall supervision of its implementation. 
The execution of approved investment 
strategies is the responsibility of the 
Treasury Committee. The investment 
strategy of the Olympic Solidarity 
portfolio is subject to the prior approval of 
the Olympic Solidarity Commission. The 
Treasurer is responsible for implementing 
the approved strategies and ensuring 
compliance with policy limits. 

c) IOC portfolio

The IOC portfolio will include funds  
of a restricted nature derived primarily 
from broadcasting rights contracts which 
may have to be reimbursed in foreign 
currency under certain circumstances 
within an uncertain period of time.  
The remainder of the portfolio is used  
to finance operating expenses, made 
usually in CHF, and other cash outflows. 

The short-term nature and uncertainty  
of the claims on the IOC portfolio 
suggest that it should have a modest  
risk profile, where the principal attribute 
is capital preservation. 
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Types of investments permitted include:

   Money market instruments, notes  
and bonds 

   Euro Commercial Papers (ECPs)
   Foreign-exchange spots and  

forwards
   Structured products with 100% 

capital guarantees
   Foreign-exchange options
   Interest rate swaps and  

derivatives such as options,  
FRAs or swaptions

   Money market funds

All other types of investments require 
prior approval by the Treasury Committee 
and/or the Finance Commission.

For fixed-income securities, the following 
limits apply:

   The securities must have a 
Bloomberg Composite Rating  
of A or above. If a rating falls below  
A during the bond’s lifetime, a  
deeper analysis has to be carried  
out and the case submitted at the 
next Treasury Committee meeting.

   The following ratings limits apply:  
AAA and AA Bonds  60-100% 
A bonds  0-40% 
Unrated bonds are not permitted.

   The duration of the fixed-income 
portfolio must not exceed four  
years, and the 90-day value-at-risk 
must remain below 9% of the  
market value.

   Total exposure to any one corporate 
issuer should not exceed 6%  
of the market value of the total  
bond portfolio.

   Structured notes (primarily callable) 
should not exceed 20% of the  
market value of the bond portfolio.

For Euro Commercial Papers (ECPs):

   ECPs are booked as money  
market instruments.

   The securities must have a  
short-term rating of A-3 or above  
by Standard & Poor’s. 

   The maturity must not exceed  
12 months.

For derivatives: 

   Short options are permitted for  
the purpose of yield enhancement, 
and are always covered by an 
underlying asset in the portfolio.

   Forward foreign-exchange contracts 
are always covered by an underlying 
asset in the portfolio. Securities 
lending operations are forbidden.

d) Olympic Foundation portfolio

The Olympic Foundation has been 
entrusted by the IOC to give support 
to the activities of the Olympic 
Movement. The Olympic Foundation 
portfolio will ensure it has sufficient 
investments realisable with a minimum 
of loss so as to cover the IOC’s 
operating cash requirements in the 
event of a cancellation of any future 
Olympic Games.

In addition, since the Games of the 
XXVIII Olympiad in Athens, the IOC has 
put in place Games cancellation and 
abandonment insurances to mitigate 
financial exposure in the case of a 
Games cancellation or abandonment 
and ensure its operational viability.

The portfolio has a long-term orientation 
and has an absolute return objective. 
The investment universe is broad and 

therefore the risk appetite is higher  
than for the IOC portfolio.

External mandates for some specific 
investments are permitted.

Types of investments permitted include:

   Money market instruments, notes, 
bonds and bond funds

   Euro Commercial Papers (ECPs)
   Common equities and exchange-

traded funds (ETFs)
   Mutual funds which invest in the 

securities described above
   Emerging market debt and equity 

funds
   Alternative investments, such as 

funds of private equity or hedge funds
   Real estate funds or real estate  

direct investments
   Commodities
   Structured products with 100% 

capital guarantees
   Foreign-exchange spots and forwards
   Options on foreign exchange  

and rates

For fixed-income securities, the following 
limits apply:

   Ratings: the following Bloomberg 
Composite Rating limits must apply:  
AAA and AA bonds   55-100% 
A bonds   0-40% 
BBB, BB and B bonds   0-5% 
Unrated bonds are not permitted.

   The duration of the fixed-income 
portfolio must not exceed 10 years, 
and the 90-day value-at-risk must 
remain below 9% of the market value.

   Total exposure to any one corporate 
issuer should not exceed 6%  
of the market value of the total  
bond portfolio.
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   Structured notes with principal 
protection should not exceed 20% of 
the market value of the bond portfolio.

For Euro Commercial Papers (ECPs)

   ECPs are booked as money  
market instruments.

   The securities must have a short-term 
rating of A-3 or above by Standard  
& Poor’s.

   The maturity must not exceed  
12 months.

For common equities, the following  
limits apply:

   Positions in any single equity must  
be limited to 6% of the market value 
of the equity portfolio. Positions in  
any single equity fund and fund of 
funds must be limited to 12% of the 
equity portfolio.

   Emerging market equities cannot 
exceed 20% of the market value of 
the equity portfolio.

   The proportion of the portfolio 
invested in equities cannot exceed 
30% of the total market value of  
the portfolio.

For alternative investments, the following 
limits apply:

   The proportion of the portfolio 
invested in alternative investments, 
such as hedge funds and funds of 
funds, cannot exceed 15% of the  
total market value of the portfolio.

For commodities investments,  
the following limits apply:

   Investments must be limited to 10% of 
the market value of the total portfolio.

For real estate investments, the following 
limits apply:

   Direct investments in real estate as 
well as real estate funds must be 
limited to 10% of the market value  
of the total portfolio.

For derivatives:

   Short options are permitted for  
the purpose of yield enhancement, 
and are always covered by an 
underlying asset in the portfolio.

   Forward foreign-exchange  
contracts are always covered by  
an underlying asset in the portfolio. 

   Securities lending operations are 
forbidden.

All other types of investments require 
prior approval by the Treasury Committee 
and/or the Finance Commission.

Currency allocation:

Olympic Foundation investments can be 
made in every convertible currency. 
Nevertheless, the following ranges 
should be maintained and respected:

   80-100% of the total of investments  
in USD

   0-20% of the total of investments  
in EUR

   0-10% of the total of investments  
in CHF

   0-5% of the total of investments  
in other currencies

e) Olympic Solidarity portfolio

The strategy consists of managing the 
biannual Olympic Games revenue 
distribution and matching the investments 

with the forecast outflows. The portfolio 
should have a low-risk profile, where the 
principal objective is capital preservation. 
It is short-term oriented and has an 
absolute return objective.

1. Olympic Solidarity operational funds 

Types of investments permitted include:

   Money market instruments, notes  
and bonds

   Euro Commercial Papers (ECP)

For fixed-income securities, the following 
limits apply:

   Ratings – The Bloomberg Composite 
Rating will be used and the following 
limits must apply: 
AAA and AA bonds 50-100% 
A bonds 0-50% 
If a bond is suddenly downgraded 
below A, the IOC Finance Department 
will notify Olympic Solidarity in order 
to make a further analysis and 
reassess the risk.

   The duration of the fixed-income 
portfolio must not exceed five years, 
and the 90-day value-at-risk must 
remain below 6% of the market value.

   Total exposure to any group corporate 
issuer should not exceed 6% of the 
market value of the total bond portfolio, 
including the earmarked fund.

For Euro Commercial Papers (ECPs)

   ECPs are booked as money market 
instruments.

   The securities must have a short-term 
rating of A-3 or above by Standard  
& Poor’s.

   The maturity must not exceed  
12 months.
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2. Olympic Solidarity earmarked fund  

After the Olympic Games London  
2012, an earmarked fund was created. 

The aim of this fund is to cover potential 
smaller future allocations from the 
Olympic Games revenue distribution.

The fund can be invested in all types  
of products detailed under section 1 
above, and up to a maximum of 15% of 
the earmarked fund, in the following 
additional instruments:

   common equities and exchange-
traded funds (ETFs);

   emerging market debt and equity 
funds; and

   alternative investments, such  
as mutual funds or hedge funds 
which invest in the securities 
described above.

All investments will be carried out in 
USD-denominated assets.

All other types of investments  
require prior approval by the Olympic 
Solidarity Commission.

f) TOP Programme portfolio

Like Olympic Solidarity, the TOP 
programme has one operational fund 
and one earmarked fund.

The TOP programme earmarked  
fund was set up in 2009 with the 
marketing results from previous  
TOP programmes. Its purpose is to 
cover a possible deficit of the TOP IX 
Programme. If there is no deficit,  
the investments will be extended to 
future programmes.

Since the business model of the  
TOP programme is similar to that for 
Olympic Solidarity, by analogy, the same 
investment policies apply. However, the 
TOP programme investments can be 
made in several currencies.

All other types of investments require  
prior approval by the IOC Marketing 
Commission.

g) Custodian banks

The assets of the various entities of the 
IOC Group should be held in several 
banks for diversification purposes.  
None of them should have more than 
40% of the global assets. This limit  
can be temporarily exceeded due to 
significant cash inflows.

h) Benchmarks

Each category of investment allocated 
to the IOC portfolios should have an 
identified benchmark index. This is 
used to compare the actual total return 
of the components of the IOC 
portfolios with a corresponding 
passive index.

i) Reporting

Reports on the investment portfolios 
must be presented to the Finance 
Commission on a semi-annual basis, 
and on a quarterly basis to the Treasury 
Committee. In addition, a dashboard 
report is issued every month and sent 
to the IOC management. This report 
assesses the full compliance of 
investments with the risk policies.  
Any deviation is underlined, and the 
follow-up and the final decision are 
taken by the management.

j) Policy exceptions and update

Policy exceptions may be approved in 
cases when exceptional events require 
immediate action and it is not feasible 
to convene a meeting of the Finance 
Commission. In the case of proposed 
actions that could result in exceeding 
a policy limit, approval must be 
obtained at least from the IOC Finance 
Director and one other member of the 
Treasury Committee, one of whom 
must be either the IOC President or 
the Chair of the Finance Commission, 
before proceeding. At the following 
Treasury Committee meeting, the 
transaction(s) must be presented  
for ratification.

During 2019, the dashboard did  
not reveal any significant discrepancy 
with the risk management policies.  
In December, a bond position  
of the Olympic Solidarity portfolio  
was downgraded below its  
authorised limit and has been  
sold in January 2020.

During 2018, the dashboard  
did not reveal any significant  
discrepancy with the risk  
management policies.

These policies are reviewed at the  
latest every two years and should 
contain a reassessment of the  
portfolio objectives, risk profiles, 
permitted investments/currencies  
and asset allocation mix.

The last update was made in  
June 2019 and was approved by the 
IOC Finance Commission on 18 June 
2019 and by the IOC Executive Board 
on 19 June 2019.
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C) Strategy for managing own funds

Fund balances include designated funds 
which are set aside for financing the 
Olympic Solidarity programme and to 
fulfil engagements related to the Olympic 
Movement Fund. Undesignated funds 
are kept for the purpose of financing the 
Olympic Foundation portfolio and the 
Group’s working capital.

D) Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the financial 
instruments carried at fair value by 
valuation method. The different levels 
have been defined as follows:

   quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (Level 1);

   inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 
(Level 2); and

   inputs for the asset or liability  
that are not based on observable 
market data (that is, unobservable 
inputs) (Level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value at 31 December 2019.

USD 000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: 

– Bank deposits  4 566  –  –  4 566 

– Money market funds  525 571  –  –  525 571 

– Bonds  1 402 453  –  –  1 402 453 

– Equity  168 657  –  7 273  175 930 

– Alternative investments  –  177 269  –  177 269 

– Real estate  78 852  –  –  78 852 

– Commodities  9 855  –  –  9 855 

– Derivative financial instruments  –  (8 780)  –  (8 780)

Total assets and liabilities  2 189 954  168 489  7 273  2 365 716 

USD 000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: 

– Bank deposits  30 000  –  –  30 000 

– Money market funds  392 983  –  –  392 983 

– Bonds  1 424 781  –  –  1 424 781 

– Equity  141 304  –  7 673  148 977 

– Alternative investments  –  168 424  –  168 424 

– Real estate  78 317  –  –  78 317 

– Commodities  8 987  –  –  8 987 

– Derivative financial instruments  –  (19 055)  –  (19 055)

Total assets and liabilities  2 076 372  149 369  7 673  2 233 414 

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value at 31 December 2018.
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USD 000 Equity

Opening balance  7 673 

Purchases of Level 3 instruments  – 

Sales of Level 3 instruments  (28)

Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss  (372)

Closing balance  7 273 

Total gains or losses for the period included in the Consolidated Statement of Activities  
for assets held at the end of the reporting period

 (372)

USD 000 Equity

Opening balance  9 862 

Purchases of Level 3 instruments  1 848 

Sales of Level 3 instruments  (1 242)

Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss  (2 795)

Closing balance  7 673 

Total gains or losses for the period included in the Consolidated Statement of Activities  
for assets held at the end of the reporting period

 (2 795)

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The fair value of the financial instruments 
traded in active markets is based on 
quoted market prices at the balance 
sheet date. A market is regarded as 
active if quoted prices are readily and 
regularly available from an exchange, 
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing 
service or regulatory agency, and  
those prices represent actual and 
regularly occurring market transactions. 
The quoted market price used for the 
financial assets held by the Group  
is the last daily quoted price. These 

instruments are included in Level 1.  
The instruments included in Level 1  
are composed primarily of equity 
investments, bonds, commodities  
and bank deposits classified as  
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss.

The fair value of the financial instruments 
that are not traded in an active market 
(for example, over-the-counter 
derivatives and alternative investments)  
is determined by using valuation 

techniques. These valuation techniques 
maximise the use of observable market 
data where this is available, and rely as 
little as possible on entity-specific 
estimates. If all the significant inputs 
required to fair-value an instrument  
are observable, the instrument is 
included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs 
are not based on observable market 
data, the instrument is included in  
Level 3.
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4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

USD 000 2019 2018

Cash at bank and in hand  532 910  712 272 

Bank deposits:

– in USD  250 181  259 614 

– in GBP  20 560  14 022 

– in CAD  17 338  6 973 

– in AUD  33 299  5 353 

Total cash and cash equivalents  854 288  998 234 

5. Financial Assets
a) Movements in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

USD 000 2019 2018

For the year ended 31 December

Opening net book amount  2 252 819  2 038 048 

Additions  976 947  1 837 225 

Disposals  (944 302)  (1 580 025)

Gains/(losses) on sale of financial assets (note 26)  4 554  1 671 

Exchange gains/(losses)  206  (25 235)

Increase/(decrease) in market value  85 617  (18 865)

Closing net book amount  2 375 841  2 252 819 

As at 31 December

Current  1 314 695  1 190 698 

Non-current (note 5c)  1 061 146  1 062 121 

Total of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  2 375 841  2 252 819 
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b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss by portfolio and classes

USD 000 2019 2018

a) International Olympic Committee

Bank deposits  4 566  – 

Money market funds  113 409  130 346 

Bonds  527 888  516 950 

Derivative financial instruments  1 345  350 

 647 208  647 646 

b) Olympic Foundation

Money market funds  21 534  9 216 

Bonds  554 166  510 230 

Equity  175 930  148 977 

Alternative investments  148 472  141 324 

Real estate  78 852  78 317 

Commodities  9 855  8 987 

 988 809  897 051 

c) Olympic Solidarity

Bank deposits  –  30 000 

Money market funds  7 789  – 

Bonds  310 366  389 901 

Alternative investments  28 797  27 100 

 346 952  447 001 

d) TOP programme

Money market funds  382 839  253 421 

Bonds  10 033  7 700 

 392 872  261 121 

Total portfolios  2 375 841  2 252 819 

Total by classes

Bank deposits  4 566  30 000 

Money market funds  525 571  392 983 

Bonds  1 402 453  1 424 781 

Equity  175 930  148 977 

Alternative investments  177 269  168 424 

Real estate  78 852  78 317 

Commodities  9 855  8 987 

Derivative financial instruments  1 345  350 

 2 375 841  2 252 819 

Note that cash and cash equivalents (note 4) are not included in the figures above.
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c) Non-current financial assets

USD 000 2019 2018

Advances to the Organising Committees for the Olympic Games:

– Tokyo 2020  –  196 611 

– Beijing 2022  62 822  10 467 

– Paris 2024  2 138  – 

– Los Angeles 2028  72 000  36 000 

Television broadcasting rights receivable  159 144  49 907 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 5a)  1 061 146  1 062 121 

Accrued income  243  75 825 

Loan to associates  3 159  3 107 

Deferred tax receivable  3 216  3 018 

Guarantee deposits  4 759  3 689 

Prepaid expenses and advances  73  601 

Other financial assets (note 6)  70  – 

Total financial assets – non-current  1 368 770  1 441 346 

The advances to OCOGs are guaranteed by their respective governments, which have the following Standard & Poor’s ratings  
as of 31 December 2019: 
  the Japanese government (Tokyo 2020) A+ (2018: A+); 
  the Chinese government (Beijing 2022) A+ (2018: A+); 
  the French government (Paris 2024) AA; and 
  the government of the United States (Los Angeles 2028) AA+ (2018: AA+).

At 31 December 2019, TV broadcasting rights receivable are concentrated on a single counterpart rated A- by Standard & Poor’s 
(2018: A-). 
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d) Financial assets by category

USD 000

Financial 
assets at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Amortised  
cost Total

Assets as per Statement of Financial Position at 31 December 2019

Current assets:

– Cash and cash equivalents (note 4)  –  854 288  854 288 

– Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 5a)  1 314 695  –  1 314 695 

– Receivables and other current assets (note 7)  –  1 204 064  1 204 064 

Non-current assets:

– Financial assets (note 5c)  1 061 146  307 624  1 368 770 

Total  2 375 841  2 365 976  4 741 817 

Assets as per Statement of Financial Position at 31 December 2018

Current assets:

– Cash and cash equivalents (note 4)  –  998 234  998 234 

– Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 5a)  1 190 698  –  1 190 698 

– Receivables and other current assets (note 7)  –  80 499  80 499 

Non-current assets:

– Financial assets (note 5c)  1 062 121  379 225  1 441 346 

Total  2 252 819  1 457 958  3 710 777 

Except where mentioned in the relevant notes, the carrying amount of each class of financial assets stated in the table above 
approximates the fair value.

CREDIBILITY, SUSTAINABILITY, YOUTH IOC ANNUAL REPORT 2019 149

FINANCIAL STATEMENTSCONTENTS



6. Investments in Associates

7. Receivables and Other Current Assets
USD 000 2019 2018

Advances to the Organising Committees for the Olympic Games:

– Tokyo 2020  424 943  – 

Receivables from the Organising Committees for the Olympic Games:

– Tokyo 2020  25 329  10 281 

– Beijing 2022  4 819  3 701 

– Other Organising Committees  2 683  77 

Television broadcasting rights receivable  486 616  6 098 

Recoverable withholding taxes and VAT  21 746  14 752 

Accrued income  156 587  19 125 

Accrued interest receivable  19 981  12 145 

Prepaid expenses and advances  54 748  9 976 

Other receivables  6 612  4 344 

Total receivables and other current assets  1 204 064  80 499 

As of 31 December 2019, receivables of USD 1.9 million were past due. As of 31 December 2018, receivables of USD 10.3 million 
were past due.

The Group’s investments in associates are composed of various entities active in the management and development of real 
estate in Switzerland. All the associates are unlisted. 

In 2019, the Olympic Foundation and the other partners were equally reimbursed for a significant part of their interest in one of 
their associates. Therefore, as the total remaining value of the investments in associates is immaterial, the equity method is no 
longer applied. 

At 31 December 2019, the investments were reclassified for an amount of USD 70 thousand in Other Financial assets (note 5c) in 
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. Those are measured at amortised cost applying IFRS 9.
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8. Tangible Fixed Assets

USD 000
Land, buildings, 

installations 

Leasehold 
improvements, 

furniture and 
equipment Hardware 

Broadcasting 
equipment Collections 

Construction  
in progress Total 

At 1 January 2018
Cost  114 119  56 013  18 450  82 691  13 148  60 982  345 403 
Accumulated depreciation  (12 339)  (26 105)  (9 605)  (71 897)  (1 622)  –  (121 568)

Net book amount  101 780  29 908  8 845  10 794  11 526  60 982  223 835 

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book amount  101 780  29 908  8 845  10 794  11 526  60 982  223 835 
Exchange differences  (776)  (720)  (324)  (67)  –  (47)  (1 934)
Additions/disposals, net  19  990  1 624  89  269  57 744  60 735 
Transfer, net  –  494  5  2 220  –  (2 719)  – 
Depreciation charge  (2 364)  (7 743)  (3 317)  (10 856)  (113)  –  (24 393)

Closing net book amount  98 659  22 929  6 833  2 180  11 682  115 960  258 243 

At 31 December 2018
Cost  113 272  55 388  18 310  59 570  13 417  115 960  375 917 
Accumulated depreciation  (14 613)  (32 459)  (11 477)  (57 390)  (1 735)  –  (117 674)

Net book amount  98 659  22 929  6 833  2 180  11 682  115 960  258 243 

Year ended 31 December 2019

Opening net book amount  98 659  22 929  6 833  2 180  11 682  115 960  258 243 
Exchange differences  1 296  (117)  (119)  –  –  19  1 079 
Additions/disposals, net  9 242  6 195  1 732  7 705  419  40 283  65 576 
Transfer, net  145 475  6 164  –  –  –  (151 640)  (1)
Depreciation charge  (6 932)  (7 807)  (3 407)  –  (114)  –  (18 260)

Closing net book amount  247 740  27 364  5 039  9 885  11 987  4 622  306 637 

At 31 December 2019
Cost  269 450  60 791  19 320  64 309  13 836  4 622  432 328 
Accumulated depreciation  (21 710)  (33 427)  (14 281)  (54 424)  (1 849)  –  (125 691)

Net book amount  247 740  27 364  5 039  9 885  11 987  4 622  306 637 

Reconciliation of the depreciation charge (USD 000) 2019 2018 

Included in:

– Operating expenditure (note 23)  4 663  1 734 
– Promotion of the Olympic Movement (note 24)  9 539  10 510 
– Olympic Games-related expenditure (note 19)  –  11 296 
– Youth Olympic Games-related expenditure (note 20)  –  326 
– Olympic Games-related deferred expenditure (note 11)  4 059  527 

Total depreciation – tangibles  18 261  24 393 
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The table below summarises the movements in right-of-use assets as per IFRS 16:

USD 000
Land, buildings, 

installations 

Leasehold 
improvements, 

furniture and 
equipment Total 

At 31 December 2018
Cost  9 246  390  9 636 
Accumulated depreciation  –  –  – 

Net book amount  9 246  390  9 636 

Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book amount  9 246  390  9 636 
Additions/disposals, net  –  2 011  2 011 

Total assets recognised  9 246  2 401  11 647 

Exchange differences  (145)  (9)  (154)
Effect of change in lease duration  –  –  – 
Depreciation charge  (2 581)  (660)  (3 241)

Closing net book amount  6 520  1 732  8 252 

At 31 December 2019
Cost  9 101  2 392  11 493 
Accumulated depreciation  (2 581)  (660)  (3 241)

Net book amount  6 520  1 732  8 252 

Right-of-use assets consist mainly of an office building, warehouses, cars and machines. A corresponding lease liability  
has been recognised under Financial liabilities as of 1 January 2019 (note 13).

The right-of-use assets are all depreciated from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the  
asset or the end of the lease term. Lease durations have been assessed on a case-by-case basis depending on the terms  
and conditions specified in each contract and the estimated time spent for which their renewal is more than likely (note 13).  
When considering the useful life of the underlying asset, the Group applied the accounting policies as described under  
section 2 (note 2F).

The leases terms include no restrictions of use; however, the underlying assets cannot be pledged for any purpose.
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9. Intangible Fixed Assets

USD 000
Software  

and licences 
Multimedia  
and library Collections 

Intangibles 
under 

construction Total 

At 1 January 2018
Cost  40 669  51 792  29 626  624  122 711 
Accumulated amortisation  (21 510)  (28 086)  (4 911)  –  (54 507)
Net book amount  19 159  23 706  24 715  624  68 204 

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book amount  19 159  23 706  24 715  624  68 204 
Exchange differences  (760)  –  –  (20)  (780)
Additions/disposals, net  5 281  14  –  1 864  7 159 
Transfer, net  1 966  –  –  (1 966)  – 
Amortisation charge  (7 599)  (7 367)  –  –  (14 966)

Closing net book amount  18 047  16 353  24 715  502  59 617 

At 31 December 2018
Cost  44 909  51 805  29 626  502  126 842 
Accumulated amortisation  (26 862)  (35 452)  (4 911)  –  (67 225)
Net book amount  18 047  16 353  24 715  502  59 617 

Year ended 31 December 2019

Opening net book amount  18 047  16 353  24 715  502  59 617 
Exchange differences  (307)  –  –  9  (298)
Additions/disposals, net  2 506  –  63  9 792  12 361 
Transfer, net  4 955  –  –  (4 955)  – 
Amortisation charge  (8 458)  (4 356)  –  –  (12 814)
Closing net book amount  16 743  11 997  24 778  5 348  58 866 

At 31 December 2019
Cost  51 663  51 805  29 689  5 348  138 505 
Accumulated amortisation  (34 920)  (39 808)  (4 911)  –  (79 639)
Net book amount  16 743  11 997  24 778  5 348  58 866 

Reconciliation of the amortisation charge (USD 000) 2019 2018

Included in:
– Operating expenditure (note 23)  5 384  8 682 
– Promotion of the Olympic Movement (note 24)  6 240  5 486 
– Olympic Games-related expenditure (note 19)  –  258 
– Olympic Games-related deferred expenditure (note 11)  1 190  540 
Total amortisation – intangibles  12 814  14 966 
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10.  Accounts Payable  
and Accrued Expenses

USD 000 2019 2018

Current liabilities

Payable to the Organising Committees for the Olympic Games:

– PyeongChang 2018  –  12 511 

– Tokyo 2020  205 914  133 494 

– Beijing 2022  119  – 

– Lausanne 2020  11  – 

Revenue to be redistributed to the Olympic Movement  –  78 141 

Other payables  52 582  27 732 

Accrued expenses and provisions  99 678  86 113 

Doping control provision  138  3 062 

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses  358 442  341 053 

Non-current liabilities

Payable to the Organising Committees for the Olympic Games:

– Tokyo 2020  –  819 

Accrued expenses and provisions  291  12 516 

Doping control provision  6 577  15 771 

Deferred tax liabilities  3  6 

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses  6 871  29 112 
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11.  Olympic Games-Related Advances, 
 Deferred Income and Expenditure

2019 2018

USD 000
Total advances 

on TV rights 

Less TV rights 
allocated  
to USOPC Advances, net 

Total advances 
on TV rights 

Less TV rights 
allocated  
to USOPC Advances, net 

Olympic Games Tokyo 2020  1 718 546  (5 604)  1 712 942  923 386  (3 054)  920 332 

Olympic Winter Games Beijing 2022  266 865  (1 224)  265 641  18 688  (1 224)  17 464 

Olympic Games Paris 2024  56 471  (1 964)  54 507  40 483  (1 964)  38 519 

Olympic Winter Games Milano Cortina 2026  11 396  (1 237)  10 159  9 870  (1 237)  8 633 

Olympic Games Los Angeles 2028  20 748  (2 015)  18 733  16 775  (2 015)  14 760 

Future Games and Youth Olympic Games  34 134  (3 314)  30 820  27 268  (3 315)  23 953 

Total  2 108 160  (15 358)  2 092 802  1 036 470  (12 809)  1 023 661 

Current portion  1 719 591  (5 604)  1 713 986  –  –  – 

Non-current portion  388 569  (9 754)  378 816  1 036 470  (12 809)  1 023 661 

Total  2 108 160  (15 358)  2 092 802  1 036 470  (12 809)  1 023 661 

USD 000 2019 2018

Olympic Games Tokyo 2020  16 822  8 384 

TOP programme  133 264  124 032 

Total  150 086  132 416 

Current portion 147 661  109 059 

Non-current portion 2 425  23 357 

Total  150 086  132 416 

b) Deferred income

a) Advances on TV rights
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c) Deferred expenditure

USD 000 2019 2018

Olympic Games Tokyo 2020  156 518  72 475 

Olympic Winter Games Beijing 2022  41 600  23 667 

Olympic Games Paris 2024  15 481  12 032 

Olympic Winter Games Milano Cortina 2026  10 846  5 762 

Olympic Games Los Angeles 2028  2 959  1 518 

Future Games  974  322 

Total  228 378  115 776 

Current portion  156 518  – 

Non-current portion  71 860  115 776 

Total 228 378 115 776

USD 000 2019 2018

Projected benefit obligations  257 684  213 139 

Fair value of plan assets  (185 331)  (153 945)

Net liability recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  72 353  59 194 

12. Defined Benefit Pension Plan
The IOC’s pension scheme covers substantially all employees. The scheme was valued by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method as at 31 December 2019, as in 2018. 

The following tables set forth the status of the pension plan and the amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position at 31 December 2019 and 2018:
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USD 000
Defined benefit 

obligations 
Fair value of 
plan assets Total 

At 1 January 2018  192 087  (149 984)  42 103 

Current service cost  12 015  –  12 015 

Interest expense/(income)  1 244  (972)  272 

Expense in the Consolidated Statement of Activities  13 259  (972)  12 287 

Remeasurements:

– Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest expense/(income)  –  6 316  6 316 

– Experience loss/(gain)  6 673  –  6 673 

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income  6 673  6 316  12 989 

Exchange differences  (1 793)  1 328  (465)

Contributions:

– Employer  –  (7 720)  (7 720)

– Employees  5 326  (5 326)  – 

Benefits paid  (2 413)  2 413  – 

At 31 December 2018  213 139  (153 945)  59 194 

At 1 January 2019  213 139  (153 945)  59 194 

Current service cost  12 175  –  12 175 

Interest expense/(income)  1 688  (1 220)  468 

Expense in the Consolidated Statement of Activities  13 863  (1 220)  12 643 

Remeasurements:

– Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest expense/(income)  –  (15 247)  (15 247)

– Experience loss/(gain)  22 504  –  22 504 

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income  22 504  (15 247)  7 257 

Exchange differences  4 707  (3 377)  1 330 

Contributions:

– Employer  –  (8 071)  (8 071)

– Employees  5 589  (5 589)  – 

Benefits paid  (2 118)  2 118  – 

At 31 December 2019  257 684  (185 331)  72 353 

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year was as follows:
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The actual return on plan assets was a gain of USD 16.5 million in 2019 (2018: loss of USD 5.3 million).

The assumptions used for the calculations are as follows:

2019 2018

Discount rate used in determining present values 0.20% 0.80%

Annual rate of increase in future compensation levels 1.50% 1.50%

Expected rate of future increases in pension benefits 0.00% 0.00%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 0.20% 0.80%

Mortality assumption LPP2015_G LPP2015_G

USD 000 2019 2018

Cash  4 452  7 611 

Equity  50 015  38 624 

Bonds  78 879  67 469 

Real estate  41 205  30 729 

Others  10 780  9 512 

Total  185 331  153 945 

At 31 December 2019 USD 000

2020 4 079

2021 3 935

2022  3 788

2023  3 789

2024 3 968

2025-2029 23 279

As an indication of the sensitivity of the above estimates, a decrease in the discount rate of 0.5% per annum would, all other 
things being equal, increase the obligations by USD 36.5 million (2018: USD 29.2 million). Changes in the other assumptions 
stated above do not lead to significant changes in the obligations.

The asset allocation at 31 December is:

The expected contributions to post-employment benefits plans for the year ending 31 December 2020 are USD 8.7 million.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations is 18.1 years in 2019 (2018: 17.2 years).

The expected maturity analysis of undiscounted pension benefit payments for the next 10 years is as follows:
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13. Financial Liabilities
USD 000 2019 2018

Current liabilities:

– Derivatives financial instruments 1 695  484 

– Lease obligation 3 367  – 

– Bank borrowings 1 863  – 

Total current financial liabilities 6 925  484 

Non-current liabilities:

– Derivatives financial instruments 8 430 18 921 

– Lease obligation 5 103  – 

– Bank borrowings 119 981 92 921 

Total non-current financial liabilities 133 514 111 842 

The Group has contracted a loan of CHF 120 million to finance the construction of its new headquarters in Lausanne.  
As security, CHF 40 million of the Olympic Foundation‘s assets are pledged in favour of the bank.
Borrowing costs were recognised at the rate of 1.46%, which is also the effective interest rate of the borrowings.

The fair value of derivatives that are designated and effective as cash flow hedges (hedge accounting) is USD -1.0 million  
(2018: USD -14.6 million).
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USD 000

Financial 
liabilities at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Amortised  
cost Total

Liabilities as per Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at 31 December 2019

Current liabilities:

– Financial liabilities  1 695  –  1 695 

– Bank borrowings  1 863  1 863 

– Lease obligation  –  3 367  3 367 

Non-current liabilities:

– Financial liabilities  8 430  –  8 430 

– Bank borrowings  –  119 981  119 981 

– Lease obligation  –  5 103  5 103 

Total  10 125  130 314  140 439 

Liabilities as per Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at 31 December 2018

Current liabilities:

– Financial liabilities  484  –  484 

Non-current liabilities:

– Financial liabilities  18 921  –  18 921 

– Bank borrowings  –  92 921  92 921 

Total  19 405  92 921  112 326 

Except where mentioned in the relevant notes, the carrying amount of each class of financial liabilities stated in the table above 
approximates the fair value.
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USD 000 2019

Lease obligation schedule

Opening net book amount  9 636 

Addition current year  2 011 

Total liability recognised  11 647 

Lease obligation principal amortisation  (3 040)

   Rents paid (-)  (3 190)

   Interest paid (+)  112 

   Exchange differences (-)  38 

Cumulative translation adjustment  (137)

Lease obligation balance at 31 December  8 470 

The table below summarises the lease obligation movements as per IFRS 16 standard. The corresponding right-of-use  
asset is stated under Tangible assets (note 8). 

Lease liabilities are measured on a present value basis that comprises mainly fixed payments. Variable payments based on price 
index have been included in the lease liability and initially measured using the index as at the commencement date.

The Group has decided to make use of the exemptions given by the standard and has excluded from its scope:
   Short-term leases (duration of less than a year)
   Low-value right-of-use assets (fair-value of less than USD 5,000)

Payments associated with these leases are recognised as expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Activities or as deferred 
expenses as per note 2E if they relate to broadcasting activities.
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USD 000 2019

Lease obligation liquidity risk

Under a year 3 367 

1-2 years 3 407 

2-5 years 1 658 

Over 5 years  38 

Lease obligation balance at 31 December 8 470 

Except for car lease payments that have been discounted using the interest rate as specified in the contract, the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate of 0.75% has been applied to all other contracts. This is the rate any lessee of the Group would have 
to pay to borrow the funds to purchase an asset of similar value to the lease’s underlying asset in a similar economic environment 
with similar terms, security and conditions.

USD 000 2019

Expenses related to IFRS 16 exemptions

Rents paid in relation to short-term lease and low value assets 5 386 

Rents paid in relation to variable lease payments not included in lease liabilities  – 

Total rents paid included in operating expenditure 5 386 

Rents paid in relation to short-term lease and low value assets  448 

Rents paid in relation to variable lease payments not included in lease liabilities  – 

Total rents paid included in deferred expenses (current)  448 

Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of one to five years and they may have extension options. In determining the 
lease term, management considered all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension 
option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options have been included in the lease term only if the lease is reasonably 
certain to be extended (or not terminated). For none of the leases is the ownership of the underlying assets transferred to the 
lessee by the end of the lease term and no purchase option exists or is sufficiently attractive to be considered.
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14. Designated Funds
This table represents movement in the designated funds related to the Olympic Solidarity programmes and the  
Olympic Movement Fund.

USD 000

Olympic 
Solidarity 

programmes

Olympic 
Movement  

Fund Total

Balance at 1 January 2018  507 599  73 814  581 413 

NOCs’ share of revenue distribution (note 22)  84 281  –  84 281 

Funds earmarked for the Olympic Movement (note 22)  –  100 000  100 000 

Use of funds:

– Olympic Games-related expenditure (note 19)  (12 913)  –  (12 913)

– Youth Olympic Games-related expenditure (note 20)  (28 202)  –  (28 202)

– Olympic Solidarity programmes (note 21)  (106 047)  –  (106 047)

– Operating expenditure  (7 244)  (463)  (7 707)

– Special projects  –  (11 430)  (11 430)

– Allocation to the World Anti-Doping Agency  –  (16 055)  (16 055)

– Allocation to the International Council of Arbitration for Sport  –  (7 544)  (7 544)

– Allocation to the International Paralympic Committee  –  (6 000)  (6 000)

– Financial assistance to other organisations of the Olympic Movement  814  (16 208)  (15 394)

Other revenue  1 242  –  1 242 

Financial income, net  5 550  –  5 550 

Balance at 31 December 2018  445 080  116 114  561 194 

Use of funds:   

– Youth Olympic Games-related expenditure (note 20)  (4 110)  (1 079)  (5 189)

– Olympic Solidarity programmes (note 21)  (111 311)  –  (111 311)

– Operating expenditure  (7 124)  (633)  (7 757)

– Special projects  36  (1 600)  (1 564)

– Allocation to the World Anti-Doping Agency  –  (17 645)  (17 645)

– Allocation to the International Council of Arbitration for Sport  –  (7 554)  (7 554)

– Allocation to the International Paralympic Committee  –  (2 000)  (2 000)

– Financial assistance to other organisations of the Olympic Movement  428  (13 173)  (12 745)

  

Other revenue  45  –  45 

Financial income, net  17 091  –  17 091 

Balance at 31 December 2019  340 135  72 430  412 565 
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15. Television Broadcasting Rights Revenue

16. TOP Programme Marketing Rights

USD 000 2019 2018

Olympic Games broadcasting rights revenue by region

Americas  –  1 021 900 

Europe  –  179 999 

Africa  –  8 846 

Asia  –  210 512 

Oceania  –  13 386 

 –  1 434 643 

Youth Olympic Games broadcasting rights revenue  –  1 161 

Total revenue from television broadcasting rights  –  1 435 804 

Revenue recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Activities during 2018 that was included in the balance of Olympic 
Games-related advances at the beginning of 2018 is USD 794.5 million.

USD 000 2019 2018

TOP programme marketing rights by revenue recognition criteria

Revenue recognised over time  548 248  547 617 

Revenue recognised at a point in time  –  2 500 

Total TOP programme marketing rights  548 248  550 117 

Revenue recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Activities during 2019 that was included in the balance of Deferred income 
at the beginning of 2019 is USD 109.1 million (2018: USD 114.6 million).
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17. Other Rights

18. Other Revenue

USD 000 2019 2018

Royalties:

– OCOG marketing programme  115 462  99 297 

– Licensing  2 288  4 305 

Suppliers  –  2 141 

Other  1 352  2 460 

Total other rights  119 102  108 203 

USD 000 2019 2018

Unilateral and Paralympic broadcasting revenue  –  77 016 

Other  27 188  34 628 

Total other revenue  27 188 111 644
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19. Olympic Games-Related Expenditure
USD 000 2019 2018

Broadcasting costs  –  246 057 

Candidacy, Games preparation and transfer of knowledge  –  23 251 

Technology costs  –  14 355 

Games operations  –  32 801 

Contributions to NOCs including grants for travel, equipment and athletes  –  11 015 

Medical and doping control programmes  –  18 548 

Marketing programme and TV rights costs  –  4 882 

Insurance premium for Games cancellation  –  12 791 

Other costs  –  566 

Total Olympic Games-related expenditure  –  364 266 

Broadcasting costs include equipment, production and telecommunication costs incurred by the Group to broadcast the live 
television and radio signals of the Olympic Winter Games PyeongChang 2018:

USD 000 2019 2018

Broadcasting costs:

– Broadcast equipment and construction  –  93 286 

– Salaries and social charges  –  34 529 

– Games operations workforce  –  36 666 

– Logistics  –  39 086 

– Production  –  17 160 

– Telecommunications  –  8 695 

– Administrative and other expenses  –  16 635 

Total broadcasting costs  –  246 057 

20.  Youth Olympic Games-Related Expenditure
USD 000 2019 2018

Broadcasting costs  223  10 124 

Candidacy, Games preparation and transfer of knowledge  3 159  1 678 

Technology costs  351  7 173 

Games operations  1 969  8 593 

Athletes, NOCs and IFs travel and accommodation  5 054  32 874 

Total Youth Olympic Games-related expenditure  10 756  60 442 
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21. Olympic Solidarity Programme
USD 000 2019 2018

Previous years’ programmes  (5 699)  (4 700)

Current year’s programmes

Continental Programmes  59 474  55 232 

Olympic Solidarity World programmes:

– Olympic Scholarships for Athletes  13 658  12 286 

– Team Support Grants  3 183  2 765 

– Continental Athletes Support Grant  5 510  3 669 

– Youth Olympic Games – Athlete Support  3 271  4 796 

– Athlete Career Transition  622  126 

– Refugee Athlete Support  542  400 

– Technical Courses for Coaches  3 980  2 950 

– Olympic Scholarships for Coaches  2 466  2 074 

– Development of National Sports System  2 020  1 755 

– NOC Administration Development  10 323  10 208 

– National Courses for Sports Administrators  1 145  1 376 

– International Executive Courses in Sports Management  908  1 198 

– NOC Solidarity Exchanges  294  – 

– Sports Medicine and Protection of Clean Athletes  1 064  776 

– Sustainability in Sport  226  265 

– Gender Equality and Diversity  491  220 

– Sport for Social Development  1 526  1 108 

– Olympic Education, Culture and Legacy  2 281  2 114 

– Forums and Workshops  1 950  1 388 

– Special Projects  501  4 977 

 55 961  54 451 

Technical support services and others  1 575  1 064 

Total current year’s programmes  117 010  110 747 

Total Olympic Solidarity programmes  111 311  106 047 
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22. Revenue Distribution
USD 000 2019 2018

Revenue 
TOP 

programme Total Revenue 
TOP 

programme Total 

PyeongChang 2018 Organising Committee  –  –  –  410 630  128 410  539 040 

Tokyo 2020 Organising Committee  –  100 660  100 660  –  94 912  94 912 

Beijing 2022 Organising Committee  –  2 544  2 544  –  –  – 

USOPC  –  88 240  88 240  124 484  89 301  213 785 

IFs  –  –  –  215 141  –  215 141 

NOCs  –  82 921  82 921  84 281  80 330  164 611 

Olympic Movement Fund  –  –  –  100 000  –  100 000 

Marketing in kind and other costs  –  9 042  9 042  –  10 071  10 071 

 –  283 407  283 407  934 536  403 024  1 337 560 

Olympic Movement Fund share of revenue  
in designated funds

 –  –  –  (100 000)  –  (100 000)

NOCs’ share of revenue in designated funds  –  –  –  (84 281)  –  (84 281)

Distribution of revenue to  
OCOGs, NOCs, USOPC and IFs

 –  283 407  283 407  750 255  403 024  1 153 279 

In application of the recommendation made during the XIII Olympic Congress in Copenhagen in 2009, distributable revenue upon 
the successful completion of the Olympic Games include cash and VIK revenue from television broadcasting rights, TOP rights 
and part of the royalties income. The revenue distributed to OCOGs and the USOPC, and Olympic Games-related expenditure, 
are deducted from the revenue to calculate the equal shares attributable to the IFs, the NOCs and the IOC.

For the Olympic Winter Games PyeongChang 2018, the gross allocation of revenue to the Olympic Movement, which included 
amounts paid or payable prior to 2018, is as follows:

USD 000

Olympic Winter Games PyeongChang 2018 gross revenue distribution

Allocation to:

 – IFs  215 141 

 – NOCs  215 141 

 – IOC  215 141 

Total gross distribution  645 423 
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23. Operating Expenditure

24. Promotion of the Olympic Movement

USD 000 2019 2018

Salaries and social charges  98 819  94 832 

Press, publications and public relations  2 520  5 652 

External services  26 750  20 789 

Session, Executive Board and commission expenses  7 293  12 854 

Transport, travel and residence expenses  8 518  8 709 

Maintenance, supplies and other expenses  34 300  23 077 

Income taxes  315  1 565 

Depreciation (note 8) and amortisation (note 9)  10 047  10 416 

Total operating expenditure  188 562  177 894 

USD 000 2019 2018

Olympic Channel  82 368  85 644 

Culture and heritage  41 952  47 084 

Total promotion of the Olympic Movement  124 320  132 728 

25. Salaries and Social Charges
USD 000 2019 2018

Salaries and other staff costs  107 930  135 763 

Social security costs  16 139  18 861 

Pension costs  13 045  13 393 

Total salaries and social charges  137 114  168 017 
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The total salaries and social charges above comprise the salaries and social charges presented under the financial statement line 
items Olympic Games-related expenditure (note 19), Youth Olympic Games-related expenditure (note 20), Operating expenditure 
(note 23) and Promotion of the Olympic Movement (note 24).

The salaries and social charges classified as Broadcasting costs in 2019 are deferred in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position and will be recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Activities (note 2E) upon the successful completion of the 
related Olympic Games. Therefore, the decrease in salaries and social charges in 2019 is mainly driven by the absence of salaries 
and social charges related to broadcasting costs in 2019, whereas in 2018, the broadcasting costs related to the Olympic Winter 
Games PyeongChang 2018 were recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Activities (2018: USD 34.5 million).

26. Financial Income/(Expense), Net
USD 000 2019 2018

Interest income and dividend 60 370  49 636 

Interest expense  (993)  (76)

Fair value increase/(decrease) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net 81 868  (18 806)

Gains/(losses) on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net (note 5a) 4 553  1 671 

Gain on sale of investments in associates –  1 948 

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)  16 882  (4 056)

Other financial income  328  – 

Other financial expense  (3 393) (3 303)

Total financial income/(expense), net  159 615  27 014 

27. Subsequent Events
In early 2020, the outbreak of the 
COVID-19 virus developed globally,  
with a significant number of infections. 
This situation is regarded as a relevant 
non-adjusting subsequent event for the 
IOC after the financial closing date of  
31 December 2019.

In particular for the Olympic Games 
Tokyo 2020, on 24 March 2020,  
based on information provided by  
the World Health Organisation (WHO)  

at the time, the IOC President, Thomas 
Bach, and the Japanese Prime Minister, 
Abe Shinzō, concluded that the Olympic 
Games Tokyo 2020 would be held in 
their complete form and not later than 
summer 2021. Subsequently, on 30 
March 2020, the IOC, the International 
Paralympic Committee (IPC), the  
Tokyo 2020 Organising Committee,  
the Tokyo Metropolitan Government  
and the Government of Japan agreed 
that the Olympic Games Tokyo 2020  

will be celebrated from 23 July to  
8 August 2021. The Paralympic Games 
will be celebrated from 24 August to  
5 September 2021.

The Japanese Prime Minister reiterated 
that the Government of Japan stands 
ready to fulfil its responsibility for 
successfully hosting these Games.  
At the same time, IOC President 
stressed the full commitment of the  
IOC to successful Olympic Games  
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28. Related Party Transactions
Identity of related parties

IOC Members are natural persons.  
The total number of IOC Members  
may not exceed 115. As of 31 December 
2019, the IOC had 105 Members, 45 
Honorary Members, 2 Honour Members 
and 1 Honorary President. From the 
Group’s perspective, the following 
persons are regarded as related parties: 
the President, the Executive Board 
members and the members of the 
executive management.

Transactions with related parties

The IOC Members, including the  
IOC President, are volunteers.  
Upon request by the IOC Members 
(following a simple process), some  
of the personal administrative  
expenses related to the execution  
of their respective functions  
for the IOC are compensated by  
fixed amounts. This amount varies  
in relation to the various functions.  
These costs are included in the 

Consolidated Statement of Activities 
under Session, Executive Board  
and commission expenses.

Travel and accommodation expenses 
during the execution of the IOC 
Members’ functions are covered by  
the IOC.

Tokyo 2020. The rescheduling of  
the Olympic Games Tokyo 2020 is 
considered a non-adjusting subsequent 
event and has not had an impact  
on the Group’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements as of 31 December 2019.

The financial risk management  
measures as disclosed in note  
3 of the Consolidated Financial  
Statements are in place to mitigate  
risks. In particular, the risks and the 
impact on asset valuations and liquidity 
are being monitored closely. As the 
duration of the COVID-19 crisis and its 
negative impact on global economic 
activity are unknown, the exact impact 
on the IOC’s activities in 2020 and 
thereafter cannot be predicted.  
However, based on these risk mitigation 
measures, the IOC concluded that  
there is no material uncertainty that 
might cast a significant doubt upon  
the IOC’s ability to continue as a  
going concern.

The current estimated accounting  
impact of rescheduling the Olympic 
Games Tokyo 2020 on the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position at  
31 December 2019 would have been:

   a total of USD 1 221 million 
reclassified from current assets  
to non-current assets; and

   a total of USD 1 767 million 
reclassified from current liabilities  
to non-current liabilities.

As of the date of approving these 
Consolidated Financial Statements,  
the loss related to the devaluation of  
the financial assets (note 5) seen in the 
financial markets at the beginning of 2020 
was not material to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements because of the risk 
mitigation investment strategies already 
adopted. Accruals for non-recurring 
costs related to the postponement of  
the Olympic Games Tokyo 2020 have 
not been determined, as the discussions 

with third parties are still ongoing.  
The IOC is also in discussion with its 
commercial partners to adapt to the 
postponement of the Olympic Games 
Tokyo 2020; and the financial impact of 
these discussions is not yet known at the 
date of approving the issuance of these 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

CREDIBILITY, SUSTAINABILITY, YOUTH IOC ANNUAL REPORT 2019 171

FINANCIAL STATEMENTSCONTENTS



The indemnity policy for the IOC Members and the IOC President is as follows:

IOC Members and IOC Honorary Members

Annual administrative support USD 7 000
Daily indemnity for the IOC Members for all types of meetings, including commissions, Sessions and Olympic Games  
(to cover the time of travel, the days before and after the meetings are compensated)

USD 450

Daily indemnity for IOC commission chairs for their own commission meetings  
(to cover the time of travel, the days before and after the meetings are compensated) 

2 x USD 450

Daily indemnity for IOC Executive Board members for Executive Board meetings  
(to cover the time of travel, the days before and after the meetings are compensated) 

2 x USD 450

The respective indemnities can be 
allocated by the President when he 
requests a Member to perform a special 
mission. These costs are included  
in the Consolidated Statement of 
Activities under Transport, travel and 
residence expenses, Session cost and 
the executive commissions and 
commissions cost.

The IOC President will be treated in the 
same way and entitled to the same 
indemnity as the Executive Board 
members during the meetings of the 
Executive Board and as any IOC 
Executive Board member during the 
Olympic Games. According to the 
obligations and rights attributed to him 
by the Olympic Charter, the IOC 
President has the function of an 
Executive President. Therefore, the 
President is on mission for the IOC 365 
days a year. In line with past practices 
and like all other IOC Members, the IOC 
President receives an indemnity to 
partially cover his expenses. The 
President receives neither the fixed 
annual support nor the daily indemnity 
related to all commission meetings or 
other missions that he is entitled to as an 
IOC Member. Instead of this, to cover 
some of the President’s personal costs 
related to the performance of his 

functions, the Ethics Commission 
decided on a single annual fixed amount 
linked to inflation of EUR 225 thousand 
as an indemnity.

In line with the policy, the IOC covers  
the cost of the President’s expenses, 
which amounted to USD 298 thousand 
in 2019 and USD 319 thousand in  
2018 (this variation is mainly due to 
foreign exchange rate differences). This 
amount included the EUR 225 thousand 
annual indemnity decided by the  
Ethics Commission. Consistent with  
past practice, an annual amount of  
USD 126 thousand is paid by the IOC  
to cover the income tax expense related 
to the IOC President’s activities in 
Switzerland. These are included in  
the Consolidated Statement of  
Activities under Transport, travel and 
residence expenses.

The executive management of the IOC  
is considered to be the President, the 
Director General, and all Directors of the 
IOC. As mentioned above, the President 
is not remunerated. The salaries and 
short-term benefits of the other members 
of the executive management amounted 
to USD 10,385 thousand in 2019 and 
USD 9,133 thousand in 2018. Their 
post-employment benefits amounted to 

USD 1,150 thousand in 2019 and 
 USD 1,043 thousand in 2018.

An annual mechanism is in place to 
declare, highlight and review potential 
business transactions with related 
parties. An automated control 
mechanism will flag and communicate to 
the Chief Ethics and Compliance Officer 
every potential business transaction the 
IOC is about to conclude with one of 
those related parties. Such transactions 
should be validated by the IOC Executive 
Board. In 2019 and 2018, no such 
transaction was flagged.
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